IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEVEN DOUGLAS HAYWARD,)
)
 Appellant,)
)
v.) CASE NO. SC07-1234
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Appellee.)

)

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court
Of Nineteenth the Judicial Circuit
In and For St. Lucie County, Florida

CAROL STAFFORD HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender

GARY LEE CALDWELL
Assistant Public Defender
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida
Florida Bar No. 256919
Attorney for Steven Douglas Hayward
421 Third Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

(561) 355-7600; (561) 624-6560
appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

An indictment charged Steven Douglas Hayward, appellant, with first degree murder, armed robbery, armed burglary of a conveyance, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. R1 3-4. A jury convicted him of all offenses as charged, R7 1146-47, and recommended a death sentence by an 8-4 vote. R7 1189. The court entered judgment and sentence, including a death sentence for the murder. R8 1294-1304. He appeals.

A. The state contended that appellant robbed and shot Daniel Destefano as Destefano was delivering newspapers to a Fort Pierce convenience store, and that Destefano then shot appellant, who left a trail of blood at and away from the scene. Appellant contended that he had witnessed the robbery and shooting, and that he had been shot accidentally when he picked up and dropped a gun that had been left on the pavement during the struggle.

The shooting occurred before dawn on February 1, 2005 near a rooming house. A tenant, Roosevelt McDowell, heard two small gunshots and someone hollering "I don't have no more. I don't have no more." around 3 or 4:30 a.m. R24 1518-20. About 10 or 15 minutes later he heard one big gunshot. R24 1519-20. McDowell looked outside and saw a car (identified as Destefano's) at a convenience store with the driver's door and the hood open. R24 1521-23. A "Mexican guy" was standing or down on one knee, and a black man with dreadlocks was standing nearby. R24 1523-25. The black man was in the car and then walked by the Mexican to the light, looking at his hand. R24 1526. The Mexican, who had been saying, "I don't

have no more," got up and walked across the street, limping a little bit and holding his side, and McDowell did not see him again. R24 1526, 1529. The black man tried to wrap his own hand, which was leaking something, and went around behind a building. R24 1528, 1535. The black man was wearing a hat and not a stocking cap. R24 1537, 1539.

Calvin Williams was driving around 4:00 a.m. and came upon a man (Destefano) in the road. R24 1471. The man asked him to stop, saying he needed help, he had been shot. Id. He was very serious. R24 1479. He did not look good at all, he was bent over, his hand on his knee, before he got in the truck. R24 1472. Williams had him sit on a planter, and called 911 on a pay phone. Id. The truck windows were down and Williams did not hear gunshots. R24 1476. He did not see anyone else in the area. Id.

Officer Grecco received a dispatch at 4:15 and arrived two minutes later. R24 1483. He encountered Destefano about 200 yards from the crime scene. R24 1484. Destefano was a little bit pale, had very wide eyes, a look that Grecco had seen in someone who was hurt. R24 1485. He was kind of almost like panting, shallow breathing, had a hole, and was bleeding. Id. He had a look kind of towards fear, very excited, and looked pretty scared. Id. He was scared, frightened, terrified. R24 1513. He said he had been shot and where he thought he had been shot. R24 1486. EMTs arrived and began treating him. R24 1487. They shoed Grecco away as they worked on Destefano, but, before they took him away, Grecco got a statement about what he had been doing. R24 1487-88. Over

defense hearsay and Confrontation Clause objections, T24 1488-1510,¹ Grecco said he asked Destefano what had happened and Destefano said: he was delivering newspapers and a black male with a black stocking cap over his face had run up and attempted to rob him; the man shot him and he attempted to shoot back; he didn't believe he shot the man; Destefano had a .357,² and didn't know what happened to it. R24 1513-14. Grecco was with him for 10-15 minutes at the most, and Destefano was not verbal by the time the ambulance left. R24 1514.

The medical examiner testified that Destefano died from a gunshot to the chest. The bullet went at a 45° angle, passing through the left lung, diaphragm, liver, and intestines, where it was found. R25 1653-54. It caused internal bleeding, but one might see little or no blood at the scene because of a lack of external bleeding. R25 1655-56, 1653. The person would start to become light-headed, start to become dizzy, and would start to pass out as time went by. R25 1656. Destefano also had a gunshot to the left thigh; the bullet traveled horizontally and lodged against the femur. R25 1628. The wound could have slightly impaired his ability to walk. Id. The medical examiner could not tell the sequence of the shots. R25 1620.

Officers found blood on on the car door frame and on bank re-

¹ Appellant objected to the statements that the robber was a black man and wore a black stocking cap or mask. R14 1490-91.

² Destefano's fiancée testified he had a silver pistol for protection when delivering papers. R24 1462-63.

ceipts and a garage opener apparently taken from the car, and a trail of blood around the car and away from the scene. R25 1580-1608, 1618-26, 1674. A criminalist made a DNA match with appellant to these items and to blood on Destefano's pants and appellant's hooded jacket. R27 1939-52. The criminalist said that it was just as good a hypothetical as any other that appellant's blood got on Destefano when appellant was bleeding and contacted Destefano's body after seeing somebody else shoot and rob him. R27 1957. Officers found no gun or casings at the scene, and an officer said the absence of casings was consistent with use of a revolver. R25 1609-11.

On February 3, Officer Mace and other officers went to appellant's rooming house. R25 1687. They went to a back room and spoke with Dorothy ("Dot") Smith. R25 1689. While they spoke with her, appellant came out of a bathroom used by all the tenants. R25 1690-91. Questioned about a bandage around his hand, he said Dorothy had cut him in an altercation. R25 1691-92. At Mace's request, he undid his bandage and, according to Mace, his injury did not look like a cut, it looked like an infected hole that had split open. R25 1692-93. Mace went outside with appellant and asked him to come to the station to talk with a detective, and appellant agreed. R25 1693. As Mace started to transport him, appellant "said, sir, I'm not gonna lie to you, I got robbed last night and I think the guy shot me." R25 1693. Mace reported this to his supervisor at the scene. Id.

The state introduced a video of appellant's police interroga-

tion. Det. Coleman told him his girlfriend said he had come home and said that two black guys had robbed and shot him. R26 1743-44. Appellant said he had a few bags of weed and a man took his money. R26 1745. When the man got ready to turn around, appellant grabbed the man's gun and he did not realize he had been shot. Id. There was a Spanish man and a black man. R26 1746. That afternoon he had argued with his girlfriend, and went out with a friend and wound up hanging out, smoking a joint. R26 1749-50. He gave the black robber \$200 that he had received in pay at his job. R26 1750. He thought the gun was silver or black. R26 1751. He did not go to the hospital because he did not have money. R26 1752. After the robbery, he took off. Id. At the rooming house he told his girlfriend what happened and asked a man named Tony to sew him up. R26 1754, 1762. The TV news reported that the newspaper man got shot, and Tony told him about it. Id. His girlfriend said she was going to call the ambulance, but he told her not to, he had been on the same corner and got shot there too. R26 1754. The Mexican robber was small with a beer belly, and the black robber was bigger than appellant. R26 1757-58. A lady was sitting in front of the store and another man was in the area. R26 1758-59. Appellant found he had been shot when he ran around the building because he was leaking blood. R26 1759-60. He told his girlfriend he was not going to call an ambulance because he had no money, and when Tony said there was a man who got shot up there, appellant said he wasn't going to the hospital. R26 1764-65. He had been selling dope at the store. R26 1766, 1771. He had gotten the dope

earlier on 12th Street. R26 1769. The black robber had seen him sell the dope and asked for the money. R26 1772. The robbers took his money and his reefer. R26 1773-74.

The officers left the room and came back to continue the interrogation, and appellant nodded his head when they asked if he was in pain, and then he repeatedly said he need to call his mama, needed to call someone, needed to make a phone call. R26 1783-87. The officers persisted in the questioning and said they first needed to hear his story. Id. They then questioned him about his activities on the afternoon and night before the murder. R26 1787-89. He said he was selling dope when he was robbed and struggled for the robber's gun, and he took off bleeding when the gun fired. R26 1789. He discussed going to the rooming house and talking to his girlfriend and Tony. R26 1790. The officers said that the man and the woman at the scene told a different story and they did not see a Mexican. R26 1806-07. The officers suggested that the witnesses saw him approach somebody and say to give it up. R26 1807. Appellant denied touching the white man, and said there was no reason for his DNA or fingerprints to be on his car. R26 1809-10. He denied accusations that he shot a white man, and denied shooting anybody. R26 1813-14.

They told him he needed to help himself, that he was like a person in a canoe headed toward a big set of falls and they were going to help him out, they were going to reach in and pull him out. R26 1815-17. They asked why he thought they had come with 20 police cars looking for him. R26 1818. They were giving him the

opportunity to talk, opening the door wide for him, giving him a hand up, they were there to help him and he should help himself. R26 1820.

He said he needed a pain pill and they told him they would take care of him. R26 1821. The officers said appellant was going down for the whole thing, the man had died and he better start telling the truth right away. R1821-22. Appellant then said that he was sitting on a crate and saw a man shoot the man, he saw them fighting. R26 1822. The man dropped the gun and appellant reached to pick it up and was watching for him because he thought he was coming back and the gun fell and shot appellant. R26 1823. Both men had a gun. R26 1824. The robber had gone right by appellant and grabbed the other man. Id. Appellant had been smoking a joint when the robbery started. R26 1827. The white man never fired a shot and he thought the robber shot him one time. R26 1828. Appellant sold the gun for \$50. R26 1829. At the scene, appellant went in the car to see if there was more stuff, and when he later told his girlfriend not to call the ambulance it was because he would still be in for robbery because he went inside the car. R26 1829-30.

The officers said they were going to pull appellant from the canoe and help him, but he had to start telling the truth. R26 1831. They were there to help him and he needed to help himself. R26 1832-33. They did not think it was premeditated. R26 1833-34. They were opening the door for him. R26 1834. He could help himself. R26 1835.

Det. Coleman testified to the jury that neither the woman (Jenni Crenshaw) nor McDowell identified appellant, and both said they did not see the perpetrator. R26 1841.

Dorothy Smith, appellant's girlfriend, said she and appellant got into an argument about rent money the day before the murder and he left. R27 1852. Before dawn (she put the time around five, a little before daybreak, or while it was still dark) he knocked at the window and asked her to open the back door. R27 1853. He came inside and said two men had jumped out a Chevy and shot him and tried to rob him. R27 1854. She thought he was saying that so he would not have to pay rent until she saw his hand, which was slit open. R27 1855. He was knocking on doors asking people to sew up his hand, but no one would do it. Id. He had on boots, blue jeans, a shirt and a black or blue Orlando Magic jacket with a star on the zipper or on the jacket. R27 1855-56. She asked him to go to the hospital and asked if he wanted her to call the police and he said no. R27 1856. He was sweating and shaking, and she thought he might die or collapse. R27 1856-57. She suggested calling an ambulance and he unplugged the phone, although he later plugged the phone back in. R27 1857. She went to the store around 8 or 8:30, and they watched TV before she left. R27 1857-58. The TV said someone got shot on 17th Street, and she asked him about that. R27 1858. He said he didn't do that, that they tried to rob him on 18th Street. R27 1859. At some point he put \$10 in the drawer and she got it. R27 1859. There was blood on the bill. R27 1860. She saw the police at the store. R27 1860. Appellant

was not there when she got back home. R27 1861. There were clothes everywhere and he had packed his bag. R27 1861. He later returned, and said he was leaving, but she persuaded him to stay. R27 1861-62. She suggested going to the hospital or calling the police, and he said the police would not believe him and the hospital would do nothing for him. R27 1863. The next day he sold a silver gun to Montavious Gatlin, known as Prophet, for \$100. R27 1863-64. (The name is also spelled "Profit" in the transcripts.)

The state put into evidence CDs of two phone calls between appellant and Smith. On the first, Smith said the officers had gotten his jacket and threatened to take her to prison. R27 1876-79. Appellant said he had lied to her because he did not want her to know anything, and she could have told the police only the lie that he told her. R27 1881, 1883. He told the detective the same thing he told her and Tony. R27 1884. He told him he watched the robbery and heard three or four shots, and said he did not shoot anybody. R27 1888. He picked up the gun and was looking to see where the black man went and the gun fell and went off. R27 1888-89. Smith said the police kept trying to threaten her. R27 1891-92. Appellant said he told the officer his jacket was a Magic Johnson jacket, he did not shoot the man, and he could be charged only with picking up a gun after a fight. R27 1892. Smith said the police threatened her with prison. R27 1896. She said they didn't have the gun and appellant told her not to say that. Id.

The state apparently also played the second conversation, although the transcript of it appears separately from the trial tran-

script. R4 488-512. Appellant said he picked up the gun, and it fell and fired. R4 490. He told Smith to get "them three pounds of reefer" or a pound and a half of reefer, that he had told her to hide. R4 497-98. Smith replied that he should not be talking like that on the phone, he was setting her up, and he said she did not understand. R4 498. Appellant said the police knew there was no reefer in the room because they searched it. R4 501. Smith later said that the police said "they found out we sold a three fifty-seven and they say why you lying to us." R4 502. Later still, appellant said he stole the gun and sold it and when he saw the gun on the ground it was easy money, and he looked in the car after he got the gun, which had gone off when he picked it up and dropped it. R4 504-05. He told Smith to give something to his brother Charles. R4 510-11.

On August 16, 2005, the murder weapon, a .22 caliber revolver, was found in a laundry that had been used in common by the tenants at the rooming house before the building was sold in July 2005. R27 1964-66, 1970-75; R28 2015-18. Bloodstains under the grip of the gun matched appellant, although the criminalist could not say that appellant fired the gun. R28 2030-32.

Appellant testified on his own behalf. He said he and his girlfriend had an argument and he went out and bought marijuana. R28 2050-52. He said Smith did not ask for rent money. R28 2074-75. He eventually wound up at 17th Street, where an old lady was sitting in front of a building. R28 2052-53. He was sitting on a crate and saw the newspaper man make a delivery and start to get

back in his car. R28 2053. A man came up to the victim and said something like give me what you got. Id. They were arguing and the robber, a black man, hit the victim and the gun went off and they struggled. R28 1053-54. The robber had on a mask, a stocking cap, R29 2146, and picked the victim up and brought him toward the car and they were struggling. R28 2054. Two shots went off and then another one. Id. The robber picked something off the ground and then went inside the car before walking away. R28 2054-55. The robber left with a silver or plastic gun and the white man got up and walked away. R28 2055, R29 2165. Appellant saw the gun on the ground and thought he could sell it. Id. He reached down to pick up the gun while still watching the men. Id. The gun fell from his hand and apparently went off and shot his hand and he saw blood when he reached down and picked up the gun. Id. It was not a loud bang when his hand was shot. R29 2144 He touched his hand and it split open. R28 2056.

He wasn't thinking clearly and he looked to see if he could get anything in the car. Id. He bled while he was looking in the car. Id. He then followed the same path as the robber. Id. He didn't tell the police the truth about the way he went because he was in trouble for touching the gun because he was a convicted felon, and that's why he told the police he never touched the gun or went in the car. R28 2057. He had eleven felony convictions, two petty theft convictions. R28 2058-59.

He went home and got Smith to open the window. R28 2059. Inside the rooming house, he asked if anyone had something to sew his

hand. Id. Smith said he needed to go to the hospital, but he said he couldn't because his blood was at the scene. R28 2060. He lied to her about what happened so she couldn't tell the police that he went in the car. Id. He told her two men robbed him. Id. Tony said he needed to go to the hospital, but he told Tony that he had no money for the hospital. R28 2061. Tony came back in about ten minutes and said somebody else got robbed, and appellant said he couldn't go to the hospital because he knew what happened and was there when it occurred. Id. Smith said he needed to go to the hospital and she grabbed the phone but he unplugged it. R28 2062. Appellant denied putting a ten dollar bill in the dresser. R28 2086. He never possessed or sold a silver gun. R28 2062. He sold the .22 to Profit, and he assumed Profit put it in the laundry room. R28 2063. It was the only gun appellant had. R28 2063-64.

He was behind the door when Dorothy opened it to the police two days later. R28 2065. They said they were looking for Abraham Johnson and one of the officers had a shotgun. Id. When the officers came in, appellant had cocaine rocks in his pocket and he hid them in the apartment. R28 2066, R29 2132. An officer told appellant to let him see his hand, and, after he looked at it, asked him what happened to his hand. R28 2067. Appellant said to ask Smith, and she said she cut him. Id. Det. Flaherty told Mace to "take him down," Mace handcuffed appellant and took him out the door. R28 2068. Officers also had Profit in handcuffs. Id. Appellant was taken to the station and handcuffed in a room. Id.

When they said the victim had died, he realized he had to tell

the truth because the police were implicating him in murder. R28 2105.

On the morning of February 1, appellant had on a Orlando Magic jacket and a pair of jeans, and was not wearing any type of mask or stocking cap. R28 2069. The hood of his jacket was not up; it got bloody when he pulled it over his head when he was taking the jacket off when he got home. R29 2153. He denied that he came into contact with Destefano, and said his blood could have gotten on Destefano's pants when an officer took them to the crime scene. R28 2070-72, R29 2155.³

B. In the penalty phase of jury proceedings, the state presented evidence that appellant had previously been convicted of the second degree murder and robbery in the death of Sabian Darosh. Michael Ferris said he was outside a bar when he heard shooting. Appellant and another man were shooting Uzis into the ground. R31 2394-95. Appellant told Darosh to lie down, but Darosh turned away and appellant shot him in the leg, apparently striking a major artery. R31 1297-98. The gun jammed as appellant tried to fire at Darosh again. R31 2400. Appellant left with two other men. Id. Darosh died of his wound. R31 2401.

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