IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-1234

STEVEN DOUGLAS HAYWARD

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA,
(CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
Attorney General
Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

facts, and McDowell's apparent confusion allows the jury to make such determinations. Here, the reasonable finding of the jury was that just seconds passed given McDowell's later account and description that he heard shots, "pow, pow, pow", two shot and then a louder third shot. Right after that he opened the door and saw Hayward standing over Destefano.

This comports with Destefano's statement that he shot at his attacker, and rebuts Hayward's claim that he watched as another shot Destefano and stepped in to take what he could get for the car and to pick up the .357, only to shoot himself in the hand. If Hayward were not the attacker, he would not have been the one shot by Destefano and found standing over him by McDowell. Instead, there should have been a fourth shot, the one where Hayward shot himself after Destefano had shot at his attacker. Because there was no fourth shot, it was reasonable for the jury to conclude Hayward was shot by Destefano after Hayward had mortally wounded Destafano.

Also, it is of no moment that McDowell did not see a gun as he heard the shots and Hayward was wearing a large pullover with pockets large enough to hide a weapon. The placement of the guns in his pocket(s) is a reasonable inference, as McDowell did not see the weapons. However, Smith reported that Hayward returned home with a silver revolver with a black handle meeting the description of Destefano's gun, and sold it to a friend.

Also, the murder weapon, with Hayward's blood on it was found in the rooming house laundry room. Likewise, it is just unreasonable and unbelievable that Hayward's "robber" would leave both the murder weapon and Destefano's gun conveniently at the scene for Hayward to recover for a profit. Also, given Hayward's ever changing account, the jury could discount his "other robber theory." The record reflects that Hayward changed his versions from being stabbed by Smith, to having been robbed by two men, a black male and a Hispanic, on 18th Street, to witnessing two men rob Destafano, to finally watching one black male demand Destefano to "give it up" then shot him, only to leave the murder weapon at the scene.

The moments between McDowell hearing the shots and opening the door and seeing just Destefano kneeling with Hayward standing over him rebuts Hayward's unreasonable, unbelievable assertion that between 3:00 to 4:00 a.m. he witnessed another black male rob and shoot Destefano, and he, instead of calling for help though it prudent to accost the victim further by taking money and property, including his .357, from his person and car. The DNA evidence also confirmed McDowell's account of Hayward's movements after the shooting, starting with Hayward's blood on Destefano's pants, in his car, and on items from the car. Hayward, who had claimed he had lost all his money earlier in the evening was able to give Smith a bloody ten dollar bill

later that morning. Destefano was known to carry only ten dollars during his morning paper delivery. Further, as McDowell reported Hayward went through the car, then around it, and stopped near a light to examine his bleeding hand. The trail then continued behind McDolwell's building, as he reported Hayward's movements, and toward the rooming house where Smith had her residence and Hayward stayed periodically.

Taken together, this evidence¹⁹ established identity, it is more than a strong suspicion, it is substantial, competent evidence supported by eyewitness testimony and DNA results. This Court does not have to determine that every reasonable hypothesis of innocence was excluded by the State's evidence, but it must determine that there was competent, substantial evidence for the jury to make such a determination. See Darling v. State, 808 So.2d 145, 155 (Fla. 2002); State v. Law, 559 So.2d 187, 188 (Fla.1989). This evidence rebuts Hayward's theory of innocence, and makes it a question for the jury, which the jury resolved against Hayward. The conviction should be affirmed.

¹⁹ See summation of testimony included in harmless error analysis of Issues II, III, and IV. (R.24 1458-61 1516-30, 1569-70, 1576-77; R.25 1580-92, 1604-11, 1616-30, 1637-40, 1682, 1690-94, 1696-97; R27 1854-60, 1863-64, 1914-19, 1926-40, 1943-53, 1957-58, 1962-68; R.28 2009-20).

ISSUE VI

THE PREMEDITATION INSTRUCTION CORRECTLY STATES THE LAW (restated)

It is Hayward's position the court erred in overruling his objection to the standard jury instruction for premeditation as it fails to state that "premeditated design" is an element of the charge, and thus, relieves the State of its burden of persuasion as to that element, and as to proving that the killing was committed after a fully formed intent was formed. He adds that there must be more than simple premeditation proven (IB 88-89). The State submits that this issue is not preserved for appeal in that these specific complaints were not asserted below. Further, this Court had reaffirmed the constitutionality of the instruction, thus, the matter is meritless.

The standard of review applied to a decision to give or withhold a jury instruction is abuse of discretion. See Coday v. State, 946 So.2d 988, 994 (Fla. 2006); Parker v. State, 873 So.2d 270, 294 (Fla. 2004); James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997) (noting court has wide discretion in instructing jury). "'Issues pertaining to jury instructions are not preserved for appellate review unless a specific objection has been voiced at trial.'" Overton v. State, 801 So.2d 877, 901 (Fla.2001); see also State v. Delva, 575 So.2d 643, 644 (Fla.1991) (holding that instructions are subject to the

contemporaneous objection rule, and, absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred)." Coday, 946 So.2d at 995. Here, Hayward made a general written objection to the constitutionality of the standard instruction on premeditation; he did not state with specificity the reasons for his challenge.²⁰ (R.2 244). Hence the matter is unpreserved and Hayward will have to prove fundamental error. Steinhorst. However, even if this Court reaches the merits, it should uphold the instruction.

Recently, in Coday, this Court reviewed a similar challenge to the standard instruction on premeditation and dispensed with

²⁰ When the motion was argued, as is expected of an officer of the court, counsel noted for the judge that his claims had been repeatedly rejected on appellate review. Counsel stated: "Judge, and let me first state for the record tha tI've discussed this with Mr. Hayward. Bottom line is, Judge, is obviously I've read all the motions that we filed, because I filed them. I've read the state's response. And the defendant is ready to concede at this time that the state's responses are well taken and that the court could enter an order denying each and every one of the motions. And that doesn't mean we're not telling you that if there's something later that the status of the law could change or some new factual issue could arise, might not cause us to come by - come back and ask you to reconsider one of the motions. But bottom line is the staus of the law at this time is that those motions should be denied. They are simply being filed in order to protect Mr. Hayward in case there is a change in the law somewhere down the line. (SR.2 42). The court followed counsel's concession, but allowed him to return if there a change in the law occurred. (SR.2 54). Later, the court noted that all arguments were preserved. (R30 2293-94). Although the court made that statement, the State submits that such was not sufficient to preserve the issue for appellate review as Hayward has now expanded upon his argument; in fact he is making an argument not presented below.

the matter opining: "it is clear that there was no error because the trial court gave the standard jury instruction on premeditation. See *Kilgore*, 688 So.2d at 898 (holding standard jury instructions are sufficient to explain premeditation)...." Coday, 946 So.2d at 995.

As this Court announced in Blackwood v. State, 777 So.2d 399, 406 (Fla. 2000), premeditation is:

"a fully-formed conscious purpose to kill, which exists in the mind of the perpetrator for a sufficient length of time to permit of reflection, and in pursuance of which an act of killing ensues." Premeditation may "be formed in a moment and need only exist 'for such time as will allow the accused to be conscious of the nature of the act he is about to commit and the probable result of that act.'" ... Premeditation can be established by circumstantial evidence.

Blackwood v. State, 777 So.2d 399, 406 (Fla. 2000) (citations omitted). Such language mirrors the standard instruction. Citing McCutchen v. State, 96 So.2d 152 (Fla. 1952), Hayward asserts that the standard instruction is misleading as it fails to properly inform the jury about "premeditated design" and that there must be proof of deliberations both before and at the time of the killing. (IB at 88-89).

In Spencer, 645 So.2d at 382, this Court quoted McCutchen for the definition of premeditation and reasoned:

Spencer also argues that the standard instruction on first-degree murder is constitutionally deficient because it fails to adequately instruct the jury that a "premeditated design" is a statutory element of

first-degree murder. We find no merit to this argument. Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), defines premeditated first-degree murder as the unlawful killing of a human being "[w]hen perpetrated from a premeditated design to effect the death of the person killed or any human being." ...

...

The standard first-degree murder instruction, which was given to the jury in the instant case, provides in relevant part that "killing with premeditation" is

killing after consciously deciding to do so. The decision must be present in the mind at the time of the killing. The law does not fix the exact period of time that must pass between the formation of the premeditated intent to kill and the killing. The period of time must be long enough to allow reflection by the defendant. The premeditated intent to kill must be formed before the killing.

Fla.Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 63. This instruction addresses all of the points discussed in McCutchen, and thus properly instructs the jury about the element of premeditated design.

Spencer, 645 So.2d at 382. See Henyard v. State, 689 So.2d 239, 245, n.5 (Fla. 1996) (finding standard premeditation instruction proper); Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1994); Brown v. State, 565 So.2d 304, 307 (Fla. 1990). A similar determination was reached in Default v. State, 800 So.2d 647, 650 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) wherein the District Court rejected the claim that the standard instruction did not instruct the jury regarding deliberations or opportunity to reflect. As held in Coday, this Court must reject this latest challenge.

ISSUE VII

VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE WAS ADMITTED PROPELY (restated)

Hayward offers that the court erred in permitting victim impact testimony. He then complains that the State used this evidence improperly in closing argument. (IB 91-92). These are separate issues. Victim impact evidence is permissible and there was no error in permitting Destefano's sister, fiancé and mother from reading short statements. The thrust of the argument here is addressed to how the State used that testimony later. Neither the claim that the State discussed facts not in evidence or that it comparing the Destefano and Hayward improperly are preserved for appeal. Further, the arguments were proper inferences from the evidence.

Admission of evidence is within the court's discretion, and its ruling will be affirmed unless there has been an abuse of discretion. See Williams, 967 So.2d at 748; Trease, 768 So.2d at 1053, n.2. This Court has affirmed that victim impact evidence is admissible where limited by § 921.141(7), Fla. Stat. (2005) and is "designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death." See Franklin v. State, 965 So.2d 79, 98 (Fla. 2007); Huggins v. State, 889 So.2d 743, 765 (Fla. 2004), cert. denied, 545 U.S. 1107 (2005); Farina v. State, 801 So.2d 44, 52 (Fla. 2001. As such, the denial of Hayward's

general objection to such evidence was proper especially in light of the State's agreement to follow the dictates Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 823-24 (1991).

The pith of Hayward's argument though, is that the State did not follow the law, and instead argued facts not in evidence and improperly compared the characters of Destefano and Hayward during the penalty phase closing argument. However, there was no contemporaneous objection raised to the State's closing argument (R.33 2553-54), thus this issue is unpreserved and fundamental error must be shown. San Martin v. State, 717 So.2d 462, 467 (Fla. 1998); Riechmann v. State, 581 So.2d 133, 138-39 n.12 (Fla. 1991).

Control of prosecutorial argument lies within the trial court's sound discretion, and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. See Esty v. State, 642 So. 2d 1074, 1079 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1027 (1995). "Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. [c.o.] Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments." Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). In arguing to a jury "[p]ublic prosecutors are allowed to advance to the jury all legitimate arguments within the limits of their forensic talents in order to effectuate their enforcement of the criminal laws." Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961), cert. denied, 372 U.S. 904 (1963). "In the penalty phase

of a murder trial, resulting in a recommendation which is advisory only, prosecutorial misconduct must be egregious indeed to warrant our vacating the sentence and remanding for a new penalty-phase trial." Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985). See Teffeteller v. State, 439 So. 2d 840 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1074 (1984). "Any error in prosecutorial comments is harmless, however, if there is no reasonable possibility that those comments affected the verdict." King v. State, 623 So. 2d 486, 488 (Fla. 1993); Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198 (Fla.), cert. denied, 505 U.S. 1210 (1992). Reversal is not required for comments which do not vitiate the whole trial or "inflame the minds and passions of the jurors so that their verdict reflects an emotional response to the crime or the defendant." Bertolotti, 476 So. 2d at 134. The harmless error analysis applies to prosecutorial misconduct claims. State v. Murray, 443 So. 2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984).

... prosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. The correct standard of appellate review is whether "the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." [c.o.] The appropriate test for whether the error is prejudicial is the "harmless error" rule set forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 ... and its progeny.... Reversal of the conviction is a separate matter; it is the duty of appellate courts to consider the record as a whole and to ignore harmless error, including most constitutional violations.

Murray, 443 So. 2d at 956. In determining whether an error is

harmless, the court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the comment did not contribute to the guilty verdict. *Id.* "In order for the prosecutor's comments to merit a new trial, the comments must either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or be so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise." Spencer v. State, 645 So. 2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994).

To preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct "the defense must make a specific contemporaneous objection at trial." San Martin, 717 So.2d at 467; Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982) (finding misconduct issue unpreserved where only general objection made, followed by motion for mistrial). Even where an objection is sustained, but the defense does not seek a curative instruction or mistrial, the matter is not preserved. Riechmann, 581 So.2d at 138-39 n.12. See, Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990).

Diane Destefano's victim impact testimony related to the purchase of a motorcycle discussed in part: "Danny was also a hard worker. He worked earlier in his life so he could save up and buy anything. This early purchased sparked a love of motorcycles. From that point on he worked harder so he could purchase a motorcycle until he could afford his ultimate dream,

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